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Image supplied by courtesy of Jirka Jiroušek 
www.nebeske.cz 

 

 

 

 

The Bees of Bohemia, pages 6-8 

Above, an Italian depiction of beehives from 14th-century Italy. 
Left, wax figure, votive gift , 17th century, from Makkum in The 
Netherlands, now in the collection of the Château of  Konopiště.  
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The JeĢtřd Television 
Tower and Hotel, page 11 

Clockwise from above: dining area; aerial view 
of the tower; corridor with suspended seating; 
staircase with a moulded concrete wall 
and glass decoration 
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The JeĢtřd Television 
Tower and Hotel (1963-1973) 
by Ivan Margolius 
 
 
 
‘Hey, the Ještěd is moving!’, workers shouted at the 
building contractor. And while two of their 
colleagues hung onto the top of the novel building 
trying to compensate for the unexpected sway 
without success, the architect Karel Hubáček and 
the structural engineer Zdeněk Patrman wondered 
how to resolve this unexpected problem in high 
wind conditions. In the end they solved it by 
mounting within the tower a 800kg tuned mass 
damper, a type of sprung pendulum or harmonic 
absorber, which moves in opposition to the 
resonance frequency oscillations of the structure by 
means of springs. It is based on an idea patented in 
1909 by the German shipbuilder and inventor 
Hermann Frahm. As a result, the whole tower 
trembles slightly, which one hardly notices. 
 
The construction of the 94-metre-tall television 
transmitter and hotel located on Ještěd Mountain, 
1012 metres high, became the symbol of its time. It 
hailed the beginning of the departure from the 
International Style of architecture. This new 
concept was the first step on the way toward the 
high-tech trend in Czechoslovakia.  
 
Before describing the new building, let us cover a 
bit of history. On 13th January 1907, a new 

mountain hut on Ještěd was ceremoniously opened. 
The construction took only six months. The stone 
building with a 28-metre-high observation tower 
included guest rooms, a dormitory, a common 
room and a bar. It soon became the new silhouette 
of the Ještěd mountain and a popular place for 
countless visitors to the peak above the town of 
Liberec. 
 
On 31st January 1963, the mountain hut burned 
down and many people in Liberec could watch the 
fire, visible from a wide area. 
 
In February 1963 Liberec council officials went to 
the top of Ještěd to evaluate whether it was 
possible to repair the burned-out hut. At first 
glance it was clear that the fire had completely 
destroyed the hut. Therefore, an architectural 
competition was announced for a new transmitter 
and a hotel with restaurant. A few months after the 
fire the competition commission selected the 
winning design of an all-enclosing hyperbolic tower 
by architect Karel Hubáček who was chosen out of 
the total of eleven competing firms, despite 
breaking the competition rules specifying that the 
design should contain two separate buildings, a 
hotel and a transmitter, so ironic if one considers 
the recent Prague National Library project debacle. 
 
However, following the competition Hubáček‘s 
futuristic design was a bit much for traditionalists. 
Their view of dissonance between the building and 
its natural surroundings, of disruption of the 
landscape profile, and the unfeasibility of 
constructing the project became a focus of a long 
local public debate. “The initial idea suddenly 
struck me. I knew I had to extend the form of the 
mountain. And give the transmitter the shape of a 
cone so that the frequent winds could blow over 
and round it. Ještěd is an extremely windy 
mountain and the classic vertical walling just 
wouldn’t work”, Hubáček defended his design. “It 
was Hubáček's proposal that was a bit of a shock 
for many people, because after the demise of the 
old hotel, they were expecting a traditional 
mountain hut,  not a spaceship,” said Jiří Křížek, 
director of the Northern Bohemian Museum. 
 
The unusual shape of the Ještěd transmitter was 
inspired by three important points: a call for a new 
landmark, an unusual combination of facilities, and 
the extreme weather conditions of the site. It was 
to be a multi-purpose building: a base for television 
and radio relay equipment, and it was to include a 
restaurant and a small hotel.   

The mountain hut, 1907-1963, on Ještěd Mountain 
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The foundation stone for the new hotel and 
transmitter was laid on 30th July 1966. However 
the construction eventually lasted seven years. The 
big slowdown occurred especially after the 1968 
invasion, when it almost stopped. Several 
completely new technologies and materials were 
used in the construction at that time and were to be 
used in the future on other construction sites in 
Czechoslovakia and around the world. 
 
In the summer of 1973, the construction on Ještěd 
was completed and in September it was handed 
over to the public. Soon after its opening  Ještěd 
became a new attraction and a popular place for 
excursions. 
 
The bearing structure of the building is a reinforced 
concrete core consisting of two concentric tubes in 
overall diameters of 4.7m, 42.4m high and 12.8m, 
22.5m high, anchored into the bedrock. This base 
carries a four-storey steel floor structure suspended 
from the cores and an antenna utility mast with a 
fibreglass skin covering the antennas and a built-in 
tuned mass damper. The curtain wall of the lower 
part of the transmitter is made of insulated metal 
panels. Urethane foam serves as an insulating layer 
and the outer surface is made of anodized 
aluminium sheet. Rounded windows stand up 
better to the wind and rain. The central part of the 
structure, which houses all the receivers and 
transmitters, has an unusual curtain wall - its skin is 
made of insulated fibreglass panels without a single 
piece of metal that could disrupt transmission and 
reception. Its support structure is built of fibreglass 
rods forming a hyperbolic paraboloid.  
 
In the basement there are plant rooms for services 
equipment and storage. In part of the ground floor 
there are offices and a television transmission hall, 
connected to the antenna systems on the upper 
levels by means of a lift and an emergency staircase 

in the middle core. Approximately half of the 
ground floor is occupied by the kitchen for the 
hotel restaurant. On the first floor there is an 
observation terrace, which was additionally glazed 
shortly after the construction of the transmitter was 
completed, thus enabling a covered and direct 
entrance to the building from road level and a 
buffet; previously there was also a staff dining 
room. There is an entrance hall with a hotel 
reception and a staircase, hung on an outer 
supporting cylinder, leading to the second floor 
with a restaurant, cafe, bar and lounge.  
 
The rooms of the three-star hotel are located on 
the third and fourth floors. In the lower part, there 
are twelve double rooms and one apartment in a 
ring around the entire perimeter of the building; all 
are accessible from the hotel corridor which is 
located between the supporting cylinder cores of 
the whole building. A spiral marble staircase leads 
from the reception to the hotel corridor. The 
fourth floor was originally used for apartments for 
hotel employees, but was changed to hotel 
accommodation offering ten one-room and two 
three-room apartments. The outer support cylinder 
core ends at the level of the ceiling of the fifth 
floor. Water tanks and back-up battery power are 
on the seventh and eighth floors. On the ninth 
floor is the lift motor room. A welded steel cone 
which forms a 48-metre high antenna mast is 
mounted on the upper side of the lift motor room 
on the ninth floor. Its surface is covered with 
metallised aluminium. Another self-supporting 
laminate extension with a length of 18 metres is 
attached to the mast in its upper section. Its task is 
to cover television broadcast antennas. It is 
finished with a steel lid, from which the tuned mass 
damper is suspended, which reduces the transverse 
oscillation of the tower by its counter-movement. 
The outer shell has the shape of a conical rotating 
surface at the level of the second to fourth floors 

  

 
 
 
 
 
Left, a 
rocket-like 
exterior view 
 
Right, a 
bedroom in 
the hotel  
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and on each floor it consists of 64 conically placed 
panels with anodised aluminium sheet skin. At the 
level of the restaurant, these panels are glazed across 
the entire width and complemented by a low parapet. 
At the level of the accommodation floors, there are 
smaller windows with rounded corners in the panels.  
 
Parabolic antennas of microwave transmitters are 
located on the sixth and seventh floors. The façade 
of the building in these places is formed by a plastic 
skin made of trapezoidal laminate panels, which are 
not joined by metal connectors, because these would 
prevent the passage of electromagnetic waves.  
 
Hubáček got into the study of architecture by chance. 
After the Second World War and the period of 
forced labour in the Third Reich he wanted to study, 
he just had not chosen a specific field. After 
graduating from the Czech Institute of Technology 
in Prague and his two-year military service, he 
obtained a position at the Regional Design Institute 
for the Construction of Towns and Villages in 
Liberec. It was here that he later founded, in 1968, 
the Association of Engineers and Architects, the 
famous innovative design studio operating under the 
name SIAL. 
 
Contributors to the Ještěd project, in addition to 
Karel Hubáček, were the engineers Zdeněk Zachař 
and Zdeněk Patrman; interior design was produced 
in collaboration with the  architect Otakar Binar. 
Karel Wünch designed the restaurant tableware and 
mirror-faced partitions, metalwork was by Jaroslav 
Klápště, and the glass sculpture Spád meteoritů (‘The 
Fall of Meteorites’), placed on the concrete core of 
the tower, was by Stanislav Libenský and Jaroslava 
Brychtová. 
 
Before completion in January 1969, Karel Hubáček 
was awarded the prestigious Auguste Perret Prize by 
the International Union of Architects. The handover 
was to take place in Buenos Aires, Argentina, and 
Karel Hubáček's colleagues remember how he was 
preparing for the trip. He had a prescribed tailcoat 
and a short speech ready. However, the then 
‘normalisation’ regime at the last minute forbade him 
to travel.  
 
The Ministry of Culture of the Czech Republic 
registered the Ještěd Tower as a cultural monument 
in March 1998, and in 2000 the professional and lay 
public chose the tower as the ‘Building of the 
Century in Czech Architecture’. Since 1st January 
2006 the Ještěd Tower has been listed as a national 
cultural monument of the Czech Republic. 
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Villa Haas, Brno, 1928 
What Happened to the Family 

by John Selby 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
After the formation of Czechoslovakia in 1918 Brno 
became the second largest city of the republic with aspiring 
economic and cultural ambitions reflected in buildings of the 
period. It was one of the foremost centres of Functionalism in 
Central Europe. The Villa Haas, designed by Ernst 
Wiesner in the style of ‘nautical functionalism’ inspired by 
the architecture of transatlantic ocean liners, had to be 
abandoned by the Haas family in 1939. The villa was 
nationalised in 1948, transferred to the possession of the 
Czechoslovak state in 1955 and then used as the seat of the 
Brno Municipal National Committee. Later it was divided 
into several apartments and sold to private owners. Online 
search shows that ‘there is no information about the fate of 
the family’. Here John Selby, grandson of Gustav Haas who 
built the villa, tells the story of what happened after 1939. 
 
The online description of the Haas villa ends with 
the sinister words, ‘the fate of the Haas family is 
unknown’, code perhaps for ‘they probably 
perished in the Holocaust’. So, to put the record 
straight, the direct descendants of Gustav and Gina 
Haas are alive and well and living in England. 
 
Gustav Haas (1884-1965) was my grandfather. His 
daughter, Anita Haas, was my mother, who was 
born in Vienna in 1914. The Haas family moved to 
Brno shortly after the First World War to take 
advantage, I believe, of fresh business 
opportunities in a new and exciting environment. It 
may be too that they felt Viennese antisemitism 
had not entirely vanished. In 1938 Anita married a 
Czech industrialist, Zdeněk Taussig from Prague, 
then owner of Zbirovia, a company that 
manufactured hand tools and which still exists. 
 
Once the Haas family were settled and Gustav 

 

 


